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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Compton Bassett is situated on a high, wooded hill overlooking the
Patuxent River one quarter mile to the east. Maryland Route 4 is south
of the house and Marlboro Pike is to the west. The property is approxi-
mately 1 1/2 miles east of Upper Marlboro, Prince George's County,
Maryland.

This two-story brick Georgian house is covered with cream colored stucco, .
and has a high basement of grey stucco. The main block of the house
measures 50 feet by 40 feet with a two-story wing extending on the north-
east side. The hipped roof is pierced by two interior chimneys aligned
above the second and fourth bays.

The southeast (front) facade has a slightly projecting pavilion in the
center flanked on either side by two windows on each floor. These win-
dows have nine-over-nine light sash. On the first floor of the pavil-
ion is the main entrance, a six-panel door with handsome Georgian
surround. On the interior this door is faced with twelve wide horizon-
tal boards beaded at the lower edge; the door hardware appears to be
original. The door surround has reeded and fluted pilasters that suppox*
a triangular pediment. Above the door is a simple but delicate five

pane fanlight. The whole first floor of the pavilion is framed with a
simple, rectangular, flat-roofed porch. Within the posts of the porch,
closely flanking the doorway, are two narrow ten-light windows. On the
second floor of the pavilion is a 12-light window capped with a fanlight
identical to that over the door and flanked with narrow eight-light
windows. This three-part configuration closely resembles a Palladian
window. The pavilion is capped with a pediment containing a small lunette
window, again identical to the fanlight over the entrance door.

The northwest facade is similar to the southeast with a few notable ex-
ceptions. The central portion is flush with the wall rather than pro-
jecting, and there is no pediment breaking the roof line. The entrance
is also a six-paneled door with identical fanlight but the door sur-
round is much simpler: two pilasters topped with an architrave in semi-
circular form. There are louvered shutters on all the windows, includ-
ing the narrow ones that flank the door and the window above it.

The southwest facade of the house has a nine-over-nine double hung sash
window at each floor level. These are placed off-center, closer to

the front of the building. A gable dormer with six-over-six sash win-
dow is centered on this slope of the hip roof. On the northeast facade
a two-story stucco-covered brick kitchen wing in an L shape was added
in 1928.

The floor plan of the main block consists of a center hall flanked by
two rooms on each side. The open string stair, with delicately carved
balusters, is at the northwest end of the hall. Each room has a fire-
place centered on its interior wall. There is also a very large fire-
place in the old kitchen in the cellar.

See Continuation Sheer #1
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

According to Henry Chandlee Forman in his Early Manor and Plantation
Houses of Maryland, "the symmetrical Georgian house is the rule in Prince
George's County." (p.83). Compton Bassett is one very fine example of
this style. The symmetrical, three-part facade; palladian motif in the
first and second stories of the pavilion; symmetrical site plan of house
and dependencies, as well as the well-executed interior woodwork all are
characteristic of Georgian architecture in the second half of the 18th
century. The house and its setting have remained largely untouched to
the present day.

Smpton Bassett has been the seat of Clement Hill, Jr. and his descendants
since 1700.1 For 276 years, at least a part of the original patent has
been in the occupancy of direct descendants of the patentee. The social
status of Compton Bassett's early owners was reflected in their marriages
with the most prominent Roman Catholic families in the Province. The
many similarities in design between Compton Bassett and His Lordship's
Kindness (National Register, Prince George's County) are well-known and
should not be considered coincidental when the close kinship of their
early owners is taken into account. Primarily engaged in agriculture,
each generation of the family has actively served its church, state and
community.

Clement Hill, Jr. (1670-1743) came to Maryland in 1693. He lived with his
uncle, Clement Hill, Sr., until 1696 when he married Ann Darnall, daughter
of Col. Henry Darnall of The Woodyard. Hill lived at the latter place
until the summer of 1699 when Col. Darnall returned from England bring-
ing to his son-in-law a commission from Lord Baltimore as Surveyor General
of the Western Shore.2 It is recorded in the Rent Rolls that Clement Hill,
Jr. had Compton Bassett, 748 acres, surveyed July 19, 1699.3 Within a
year he had completed the construction of a hime that he named after a
house he had known in his native England. No description of that house
built in 1700 is known to exist. The 1743 Inventory of Clement Hill's
estate was made room-by-room and lists "Chamber over the Great Roome...,
Chamber over the Little Roome..., Chamber over the Hall..., Dining Roome..,
Hall..., Hall Closett..., Great Roome..., Little Roome..., Store...,

“~itchen..., and Passage...."

Clement Hill, Jr.'s will gave his house and dwelling plantation to his
wife during her lifetime and then to their son, Clement, (1707-1782)
who had married Mary Digges, a daughter of Charles of Warburton Manor. "

See Continuation Sheet #3
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DESCRIPTION (continued)

The delicately carved moldings grace the interior of the entire house,
especially the cornice, door surrounds and mantel. Six-paneled doors

are enclosed in finely carved moldings, the top frames fluted and reeded,
and capped by a dentil cornice. This design is echoed in the fireplace
mantels in the parlor and library, notable for a stylized triglyph and
metope design. A simplified design is used on the other mantels in the
house. There is a chair rail in theparlor, dining room and hall.

The stair hall is divided by a cross arch with fanlight supported by
four reeded and fluted pilasters. The handrail of the stairway has two
turned, square balusters per tread, and ends in a volute. There is a
wooden hand rail on the wall side of the stairway.

The windows have interior, four-paneled shutters which fold into re-

cesses in the sides of the window frames. The area beneath the windows
is paneled.

The ceilings on both the main and second floors measure twelve feet in
height, The floors are covered with original random width pine boards.
The attic framing contains both sawn and hewn members. The cellar is
of brick.

The use of the Georgian style in the house was carried over into the
site plan. There are four dependencies symmetrically placed at the four
corners of the house, one in each compass direction. These are a chapel,
a meat house, a dairy and the site of a store house, all approximately
contemporary to the house.

The chapel, located approximately fifty feet from the south corner of
the main block, is the largest of the three dependencies. The one-
story building with cellar measures approximately 24 by 16 feet. It is
constructed of brick with random glazed headers in all the walls, and has
a steep gable roof. The main doorway, reached by five steps leading
directly to the door, is near the west corner of the north facade. The
four-panel door is framed by two plain pilasters with molded edges and
a round-headed, five-light transom that repeats the pattern of the main

entrance of the house. To the east of the doorway are two nine-over-nine

~ light windows. The east end of the chapel is dominated by a large chim-
ney flanked by nine-over-nine light windows on the first floor level and
tiny windows high in the gable. The south facade has three evenly spaced
windows matching those on the north. The west wall has one window high
in the gable and a priest's door near the north corner. The six-panel
door has no surround. A plain vertical board door, centered along the
base of the north facade at ground level, leads to a cellar.

See Continuation Sheet #2
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DESCRIPTION (continued)

The brick meat house located to the west of the house has a steep gable
roof similar to that used on the chapel and dairy. The building, built
of brick with random glazed headers, measures 12 by 16 feet. A door is
located on the east gable end wall.

The dairy is situated to the north of the house and is similar in appear-
ance to the meat house, except for a centrally placed short, arched win-
dow in the south, west and north walls. The structure measures 14 by

16 feet, and is entered through a door on its east side. A frame addi-
tion has been built on the north side of the building.

A fourth dependency, thought to have been a store house, probably stood
off the north corner of the house at one time. Bonded bricks have been
found beneath the ground at the estimated location.

A family burial ground is located west of the mansion. Many burial
stones date from the early 1800's, and it is thought there are other
unmarked graves in the cemetery.

Other farm buildings on the property include a stable, cow shed, stable
used for hay storage and tobacco barn, all dating from the 20th century.




PG.79-10

Eaen No. 10-300a
10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
RECEIVED
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES £E ENTERED

INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM CATEENTES

Compton Bassett

Prince George's County,
CONTINUATION SHEET Maryland ITEM NUMBER g PAGE 3

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

It was this Clement Hill who donated supplies to the support of the
patriot army in 1788.6 Perhaps due to the stress of the times, the ori-
ginal mansion house, which according to family records burned in 1771,
was not rebuilt until after the Revolutionary War.

Clement Hill (1743-1807), only son and heir of his father, was left the
responsibility of replacing the family dwelling house. The builder he
employed is not known. "A. L. Gosnell" was scratched into wet plaster
over the dormer on the southeast facade. His identity has not been
established. The present house and dependencies are described in the
Federal Direct Tax Assessment of 1798, with 1896 acres of adjoining
land.” (See Addendum)

Whether or not this house resembles the 1700 structure is unknown.
Smoke-stained bricks are found in the present structure. It is believed
the present house was covered with pebble dash to hide the stained

bricks. The White House architect, James Hoban, came to Compton Bassett
in March of 1822 for consultation concerning certain improvements to

the mansion, including pebble dash for the exterior. Receipts for Hoban's
services and building materials appear in Dr. William Hill's accounts.

County Court records show that Clement Hill was appointed a Commissioner
of Tax in 1792 and again in 1803.9 His 1807 will gave the dwelling
house to his wife, Eleanor, during her lifetime and then to their son,
William. Eleanor Brent Hill was the daughter of William Brent of
Virginia. Her mother was a sister of Daniel Carroll, signer of the
Federal Constitution, and of John Carroll, the first American Archbishop
of the Roman Catholic Church.lO

Dr. William Hill (1783-1823), who married Anne Smith, daughter of Dr.
Clement Smith, Jr., inherited Compton Bassett by terms of his father's
will., By 1818 he had acquired addi&ional land to total the 2,182 acres
that he had resurveyed as Woodland. In 1814, when Dr. William Beanes
of Upper Marlboro was captured by the British, an episode which culmin-
ated in Francis Scott Key's creation of our National Anthem, Dr. Hill,
a close friend of_ Beanes, was also taken but gained an early release
from his captors. Dr. Hill was one of the organizers of Planter's

~~Bank in Marlborough in 1817.13 When he died in 1823, he gave life rights
to his dwelling plantation to his wife, then to his son, William Beanes
Hill.

William Beanes Hill (1813-1890), Judge of the Orphan's Court for 25

See Continuation Sheet #4
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

yéars, State Senator in 1877 and Secretary of the State of Maryland, was
a graduate of St. Mary's College at Emmitsburg, Maryland, and one of the
leading planters in the state. He married Catherine Beall Smith,
daughter of Richard of Georgetown. Judge Hill was one of the original
stockholders in the Maryland Agricultural College (now the University

of Maryland) in 1856.14" 1In 1884 he founded the Woodland Bridge Company,
Inc. to operate a toll facility across the Patuxent River near Hill's
Landing. An undated drawing, entitled "Hill's Landing," showi the bridge,
a stern-wheeler steamer and a brick kiln at the water's edge. 5 This
establishment was located just south of the present day Maryland Route 4
bridge. The Landing, as such, is no longer in existence.

— Judge Hill willed his dwelling house to his eldest daughter, Esther G.
Hill. It was she who gave the religious articles in the famil¥ chapel
to St. Mary's Roman Ctholic Church in Upper Marlboro in 1895.1 Inciden-
tally, no record has been found to show deconsecration of the chapel.
It may still be a Roman Catholic Church. Esther G. Hill died in 1900,
giving the family home to her niece, Mary Dixon Beale, who had married
Reverdy Sasscer, M.D. Two of their sons, Henry S. Sasscer and Dr.
Robert B. Sasscer, are currently the owners and occupants of the mansion.
The surrounding acreage is still a working farm.

lBowie, Effie Gwynn, Across the Years in Prince George's
County. (Richmond: Garrett and Massie, 1947) p. 427

ZBowie, p. 426
3Rent Rolls #4:324, Hall of Records, Annapolis, Maryland
4Bowie, p. 426
5Bowie, p. 249

6Red Books, Part 2, items 1604-1605, Hall of Records,
Annapolis, Maryland

o Trederal Direct Tax, 1798, Patuxent Hundred, Prince George's
" County, Maryland. Particular lists of dwellings and of land.

8Hill Papers, unpublished. Dr William Hill letter to Hoban,
14 March 1822. William Hill Accounts, 20 March 1822, paid $20.00 to
James Hoban and $6.00 to William Gallaway for "gig and horse" to trans-
port Hoban for two days.

See Continugpion Sheet #5
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9Van Horn, R. Lee, Out of The Past. (Riverdale: Prince
George's County Historical Society, 1976) PP. 217 and 242.

lOBowie, p. 112

llpatented Certificate #2392 for Prince George's County,
Hall of Records, Annapolis, Maryland.

12Yan Horn, pp. 262-263

News and Notes of the Prince George's County Historical
Society, Riverdale, Maryland, p. 29

—_— l3Van Horn, p. 269

l4Newsand Notes, p. 59
15Hill Papers, unpublished.

16Bowie, p. 427
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